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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To the Shareholder and the Supervisory Board of “ASG Business Aviation” Limited Liability Company 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of “ASG Business Aviation” Limited Liability 
Company, its subsidiaries and branches (the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of 
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including 
a summary of material accounting policy information. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and its consolidated 
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”). 
 
Basis for Opinion  
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group 
in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the “IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s consolidated financial 
reporting process. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure, and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit, and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 
 
 
 
 
1 October 2024
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“ASG BUSINESS AVIATION” LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 
(in thousands of Azerbaijani Manats) 

 
 

Notes 
Year ended 

31 December 2023  

Year ended 31 December 
2022 (restated)*  

Revenue     
Revenue 5 289,571 

 
283,016 

Insurance revenue 6  11,596    12,595  

     
Total revenue  301,167 

 
295,611 

      
Operating expenses     
Employee costs 7  (68,340)   (54,633) 
Material expenses 8  (43,937)   (41,002) 
Depreciation 14   (18,560)   (22,776) 
Repair and technical maintenance   (17,483)   (10,025) 
Allocation of reinsurance premiums 6  (11,983)   (12,632) 
Handling, landing, navigation, and other flight costs   (10,222)   (8,438) 
Fuel   (9,499)   (8,351) 
Recovery of impairment on financial assets1 16  8,294    3,545  
Taxes other than income tax   (4,778)   (4,639) 
Aircraft crew costs   (4,330)   (2,659) 
Communication expenses   (3,660)   (2,441) 
Catering and other passenger-related expenses   (2,458)   (1,881) 
Lease costs   (2,074)   (4,701) 
Insurance expenses 6  (896)   (131) 
Amounts recoverable from reinsurance for incurred claims 6  695    142  
Insurance claims incurred, net of reinsurance 6  56    -    
Insurance finance expense for insurance contracts issued 6  (44)   (283) 
Reinsurance finance expense for reinsurance contracts held 6  28    125  
Other expenses2 9  (13,755)   (15,155) 
      

Total operating expenses   (202,946)   (185,935) 
      

Operating profit   98,221  
 

 109,676  
      
Corporate social responsibility expenses 10  (49,040) 

 
 (42,680) 

Finance costs 11  (11,035)   (9,388) 
Finance income - interest income   1,306    1,006  
Foreign exchange loss, net   (782)   (156) 
Finance income - other   606    455  
Other income   3,139    2,257  
     
Profit for the year before income tax   42,415  

 
 61,170  

      
Income tax expense  12  (19,060)   (20,593) 
      
Profit for the year   23,355  

 
 40,577  

Translation reserve gain/(loss) 
 106  

 
(176) 

      

Total comprehensive income for the year   23,461    40,401  

     
Profit for the year attributable to:     
    Owners of the Company   23,339    40,579  
    Non-controlling interests   16   (2)    

     
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:     
    Owners of the Company   23,445    40,403  
    Non-controlling interests   16    (2)  
 

1 2023 recovery includes AZN 151 thousand (2022: AZN 156 thousand) recovery of previously written-off trade receivable. 
2 AZN 604 thousand insurance expenses (related to medical and other) of 2022 were included within other expenses in comparative figures. 
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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“ASG BUSINESS AVIATION” LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY 

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023 
(in thousands of Azerbaijani Manats) 

 
 

Notes 
31 December  

2023  

31 December  
2022 (restated)* 

 31 December  
2021 (restated)* 

ASSETS  
     

Non-current assets  
     

Property and equipment 14  314,944    299,993    194,645  
Investment property   -      2,632    2,841  
Long-term advances given 20  10,594    7,395    8,202  
Bank deposits, non-current portion 17  -      1,400    1,400  
Finance lease receivables, non-current portion 19  -      7,088    10,778  
Deferred tax assets 13  940    665    9  
Other non-current assets  5,134    5,134    1,878  

Total non-current assets   331,612  
 

 324,307    219,753  

   
     

Current assets  
     

Inventories 15  13,252  
 

 13,057    9,205  
Trade and other receivables 16  46,711    45,629    49,409  
Cash and cash equivalents 18  69,264    55,366    50,446  
Short-term advances given 20  10,376    7,434    2,953  
Bank deposits, current portion 17  7,900    6,500    6,500  
Reinsurance contract assets 6  2,317    1,803    2,674  
Insurance contract assets 6  13    34    1,740  
Finance lease receivables, current portion 19  -      6,922    7,100  
Current income tax prepayment  683  -  - 
Other current assets   830    751    691  

Total current assets   151,346  
 

 137,496    130,718  

Total assets   482,958  
 

 461,803    350,471  

   
     

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  
     

Equity  
     

Charter capital 25  181,044  
 

 186,672    186,672  
Translation reserves   (70)   (176)   -    
Accumulated deficit   (56,904) 

 
 (80,243)   (120,822) 

Equity attributable to owners of the Company   124,070  
 

 106,253    65,850  

Non-controlling interests   473    457    459  

       
Total equity   124,543    106,710    66,309  

       
Non-current liabilities  

     
Loans and borrowings, non-current portion 21  162,907    162,733    171,315  
Long-term payables 23  100,470    104,894    -    
Deferred tax liabilities 13  8,772  

 
 5,400    3,030  

Provisions   159    391    2,179  

Total non-current liabilities   272,308  
 

 273,418    176,524  

   
     

Current liabilities  
     

Advances received 24  27,642    28,459    33,098  
Trade and other payables 22  41,091  

 
 32,691    62,752  

Loans and borrowings, current portion 21  12,208    2,567    2,889  
Reinsurance contract liabilities    135    193    364  
Current income tax liabilities   -      12,885    5,059  
Insurance contract liabilities 6  5,031    4,880    3,476  

Total current liabilities   86,107  
 

 81,675    107,638  

Total liabilities   358,415  
 

 355,093    284,162  

Total equity and liabilities   482,958  
 

 461,803    350,471  

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.   
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“ASG BUSINESS AVIATION” LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 
(in thousands of Azerbaijani Manats) 

 

 

Notes 

 

Charter 
capital  

Accumulated 
deficit  

Foreign 
exchange 

translation 
reserve 

 Total equity 
attributable 
to owners of 
the parent 

 
Non-

controlling 
interest 

  
 

Total equity 
deficit  

               
Balance at 31 December 2021, as 

previously reported 
  

186,672  (121,320)  -  65,352  459  65,811 

              
Impact of initial application of IFRS 17 2   -      498    -      498    -      498 
               
Restated balance as at 1 January 2022    186,672    (120,822)   -      65,850    459    66,309  

              
Profit for the year (restated)    -    

 
 40,579  

 
 -      40,579    (2)   40,577  

Other comprehensive income for the 
year 

 
 

 -      -      (176)   (176)  -   (176) 

               
Restated balance at 31 December 2022    186,672  

 
 (80,243) 

 
(176)  106,253    457    106,710  

               
Profit for the year    -    

 
 23,339  

 
 -      23,339    16    23,355 

Reduction in charter capital 25   (5,628)   -      -      (5,628)   -      (5,628) 
Other comprehensive income for the 

year 
 

 
-  -  106  106  -  106 

               
Balance at 31 December 2023    181,044  

 
 (56,904) 

 
(70)   124,070    473     124,543   

 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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“ASG BUSINESS AVIATION” LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 

(in thousands of Azerbaijani Manats) 

 

 Notes 
31 December   

2023  

31 December   
2022 (restated)* 

     
Profit for the year before income tax   42,415  

 
61,170 

Adjustments for:  
 

  
Depreciation 14  18,560   22,776 
Recovery of impairment on financial assets 16  (8,294)  (3,389) 
Change in provision for doubtful receivables for insurance contracts   -     144 
Change in provision for obsolete inventory  (513)  717 
Change in provision  (232)  (1,788) 
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 14  2,391   - 
Foreign exchange loss, net   782   156 
Gain on purchase of bonds   -    (256) 
Finance costs 11  11,035   9,388 
Finance income   (1,912)  (1,461)  

 
 

  
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital   64,232  

 
87,457  

    
Change in trade and other receivable   (1,077)   (9,100) 
Change in advances given   (2,942)   (4,520) 
Change in inventories   2,425   (4,681) 
Change in other current assets   (83)   299  
Insurance contract assets and liabilities - net   22   2,966  
Reinsurance contract assets and liabilities - net   (572) 

 
 700  

Change in trade and other payable   13,875   (15,889) 
Change in advances received   (817)   (4,869)  

    
  

Cash generated from operating activities   75,063  
 

 52,363   
    

Income tax paid   (29,665)   (11,700) 
Interest paid   (9,453) 

 
 (8,814) 

     
Net cash generated by operating activities   35,945  

 
 31,849   

    
Investing activities     
Purchase of property and equipment   (51,721)   (17,183) 
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment   8,832    39  
Withdrawal of bank deposits   -      12,000  
Advance payments for maintenance reserve and aircraft repair services   (3,285)   (1,956) 
Advances paid for purchase of property and equipment   (2,928)   (1,252) 
Proceeds from finance leases receivables   13,164    3,434  
Interest received for bank deposits and bonds   2,680    1,887  
Purchase of government bonds1   -      (3,000) 
Bank deposit placement   -      (12,000) 
Other changes   1,940   (362)    

     
Net cash used in investing activities   (31,318) 

 
 (18,393)  

    
Financing activities     
Principal payments on long-term borrowings 21 (14,721)   (74,290) 
Proceeds from loans and borrowings 21 23,800  67,550 
Dividends paid  (23)  -  

    
Net cash generated by / (used in) financing activities  9,056 

 
(6,740)  

     
Net change in cash and cash equivalents  13,683 

 
6,716  

     
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 18 55,366    50,446  
Foreign currency effect on cash and cash equivalents 18 215  (1,796) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 18 69,264 

 
55,366   

 

1Government bonds are included within other non-current assets in the statement of financial position.  



 

8 

 

Following non-cash transactions were eliminated from consolidated statement of cash flow for the year 
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022: 
 
(a) Offset of trade receivables with trade payables of AZN 3,567 thousand in 2023 (2022: AZN 13,786 

thousand); 

(b) Offset of trade receivables with long-term payables of AZN 5,840 thousand in 2023 (2022: AZN 
6,256 thousand); 

(c) Overhaul of engines through advances paid under power-by-hour agreement of AZN 3,015 
thousand in 2023 (2022: 3,060 AZN thousand); 

(d) Withdrawal of property and equipment and investment property by shareholder with carrying 
amount of AZN 5,628 (2022: nil thousand) 

(e) Offset of tax receivables with current income tax liabilities of AZN 164 thousand in 2023 (2022: AZN 
631 thousand); 

(f) Transfer of asset to the Ministry of Youth and Sport of the Republic of Azerbaijan with carrying 
amount of AZN 2,700 thousand in 2022; 

(g) Acquisition of aircraft through long-term payables of AZN 110,500 thousand in 2022. 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

 



“ASG BUSINESS AVIATION” LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY 
 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 
(in thousands of Azerbaijani Manats) 
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1. NATURE OF ACTIVITIES 
 

ASG Business Aviation Limited Liability Company (the “Company”) is a legal entity registered by 
the Ministry of Taxes on 13 April 2007. The registered office of the Company is 21 Mardakan pr., 
Baku, the Republic of Azerbaijan.  
 
The Company was 100% owned by Silk Way Development Limited Liability Company until it was 
acquired by Mr. Teymur Mammadov on 2 October 2019. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022 he is 
the sole owner (100%) of the Company and its ultimate controlling party.  
 
The name of the Company was officially changed from Silk Way Business Aviation to ASG Business 
Aviation on 8 July 2020. 
 
The primary activities of the Company, its subsidiaries and branches (the “Group”) are the provision 
of chartered flights and aviation, on-ground, agency, catering, construction, supply and insurance 
services to third parties.   
 
The Group has the following branches in 2023 and 2022 established from the end of November 
2019, which have been included in these consolidated financial statements: 
 

Name of branch  Principal activity 

   
ASG Business Aviation Ground Handling 

Company  
Provides ground handling services at different airports in  

the Republic of Azerbaijan. 
   
ASG Business Aviation Sky Catering 

 
Provides catering services to aircraft at different airports in  

the Republic of Azerbaijan. 
   
ASG Business Aviation Logistics and 

Supply  
Provides with logistics and goods supply. 

   
ASG Business Aviation Construction & 

Industry  
Provides services to the aviation sector in the field of repair-building, assembly 

operations, restoration, and other kind of works. 

 
 
The principal activities of subsidiaries and their effective ownership interests as at 31 December 
2023 and 2022 were as follows: 
 

Name of Subsidiary 
 

Principal activity  
Place of incorporation and 

operation  
Proportion of ownership 

interest held % 

        
AzMilk Dairy LLC  Agriculture services  Azerbaijan  100% 

Hahn Cargo Services GmbH 
 Handling services in Hahn 

airport 
 

Germany 
 

100% 

Ipek Yolu Insurance OJSC  Insurance services  Azerbaijan  96.53% 

 
 
Significant transactions with former entities under common control 
 
As part of the deal to obtain control over the Company from the former owner, the parties agreed 
to acquire assets necessary to start new line of business and established the new branches 
disclosed above.  
 



“ASG BUSINESS AVIATION” LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY 
 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 
(in thousands of Azerbaijani Manats) 
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In the normal course of the business, the Group enters into transactions with subsidiaries of its 
former shareholder, Silk Way Development LLC. Starting from the acquisition of a new line of 
businesses (ground handling and catering services) from Silk Way Airlines LLC (subsidiary of the 
former owner) in 2019, the Group provides ground handling services back to Silk Way Airlines LLC 
and its subsidiaries (Note 5). 
 
 

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS  
 
New and amended IFRS Standards that are effective for the current year 
 
In the current year, the Group has applied a number of amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) that are mandatorily effective for an 
accounting period that begins on or after 1 January 2023. Their adoption has not had material 
impact on the disclosures or on the amounts reported in these consolidated financial statements, 
except for application IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (including the June 2020 and December 2022 
Amendments to IFRS 17) disclosed further in Note 6. 
 
Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making 
Materiality Judgements—Disclosure of Accounting Policies 
 
The Group has adopted the amendments to IAS 1 for the first time in the current year. The 
amendments change the requirements in IAS 1 with regard to disclosure of accounting policies. The 
amendments replace all instances of the term ‘significant accounting policies’ with ‘material 
accounting policy information’. Accounting policy information is material if, when considered 
together with other information included in the Group’s consolidated financial statements, it can 
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial 
statements make on the basis of those financial statements. 
 
The supporting paragraphs in IAS 1 are also amended to clarify that accounting policy information 
that relates to immaterial transactions, other events or conditions is immaterial and need not be 
disclosed. Accounting policy information may be material because of the nature of the related 
transactions, other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not all 
accounting policy information relating to material transactions, other events or conditions is itself 
material. 
 
The IASB has also developed guidance and examples to explain and demonstrate the application of 
the ‘four-step materiality process’ described in IFRS Practice Statement 2. 
 
Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors—Definition 
of Accounting Estimates 
 
The Group has adopted the amendments to IAS 8 for the first time in the current year. The 
amendments replace the definition of a change in accounting estimates with a definition of 
accounting estimates. Under the new definition, accounting estimates are “monetary amounts in 
financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty”. The definition of a change in 
accounting estimates was deleted. 
 



“ASG BUSINESS AVIATION” LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY 
 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 
(in thousands of Azerbaijani Manats) 
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IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (including the June 2020 and December 2022 Amendments to IFRS 17) 
 
The Group has initially applied IFRS 17, including any consequential amendments to other standards, 
from 1 January 2023. These standards have brought significant changes to the accounting for 
insurance and reinsurance contracts and financial instruments. As a result, the Group has restated 
certain comparative amounts and presented a third statement of financial position as at 1 January 
2022. 
 
Except for the changes below, the Group has consistently applied the accounting policies to all 
periods presented in these financial statements. 
 
The nature and effects of the key changes in the Group’s accounting policies resulting from its 
adoption of IFRS 17 summarised below: 
 
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 
 
Recognition, measurement, and presentation of insurance contracts - IFRS 17 establishes 
principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts, 
reinsurance contracts held. It introduces a model that measures groups of insurance contracts 
based on the Group’s estimates of the present value of future cash flows that are expected to arise 
as the Group fulfils the contracts, an explicit risk adjustment for non-financial risk and a contractual 
service margin (“CSM"). 
 
Under IFRS 17, insurance revenue in each reporting period represents the changes in the liabilities 
for remaining coverage that relate to services for which the Group expects to receive consideration 
and an allocation of premiums that relate to recovering insurance acquisition cash flows. In addition, 
investment components are no longer included in insurance revenue and insurance service 
expenses. 
 
The Group applies the Premium Allocation Approach (“PAA") to simplify the measurement of 
contracts. When measuring liabilities for remaining coverage, the PAA is similar to the Group’s 
previous accounting treatment related to recognition of revenues from insurance contracts. 
However, when measuring liabilities for incurred claims, the Group now discounts the future cash 
flows (unless they are expected to occur in one year or less from the date on which the claims are 
incurred) and includes an explicit risk adjustment for non-financial risk. 
 
Previously, all acquisition costs were recognised and presented as separate assets from the related 
insurance contracts ('deferred acquisition costs') until those costs were included in profit or loss and 
OCI. Under IFRS 17, only insurance acquisition cash flows that arise before the recognition of the 
related insurance contracts are recognised as separate assets and are tested for recoverability. 
These assets are presented in the carrying amount of the related portfolio of contracts and are 
derecognised once the related contracts have been recognised. 
 
Income and expenses from reinsurance contracts held other than reinsurance finance income and 
expenses are now presented as a single net amount in profit or loss. Previously, amounts recovered 
from reinsurers and reinsurance expenses were presented separately. 

  



“ASG BUSINESS AVIATION” LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY 
 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 
(in thousands of Azerbaijani Manats) 
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Transition - Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 17 have been applied 
using a full retrospective approach to the extent practicable. Under the full retrospective 
approach, on 1 January and 31 December 2022 the Group: 

- identified, recognised and measured each group of insurance and reinsurance contracts 
held as if IFRS 17 had always been applied; 

- derecognised previously reported balances that would not have existed if IFRS 17 had 
always been applied; and 

- recognised any resulting net difference in equity. 
 
Restatement 
 
The following table summarises the impact of IFRS 17 on the Group’s statement of financial position 
as at 1 January 2022: 
 

 
 
The following table summarises the impact of IFRS 17 on the Group’s statement of financial position 
as at 31 December 2022: 
  

  

  Impact of adoption of IFRS 17 

 
ASSETS 

 
As previously reported 

 Impact of adoption 
of IFRS 17 

 
As restated 

Deferred tax assets  -  9  9 

Insurance contract assets  9,146  (7,406)  1,740 
Reinsurance contract asset  -  2,674  2,674 
Other current assets  688  3  691 
Total assets  355,191  (4,720)  350,471 

       
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES       

Insurance contract liabilities  (9,058)  5,582  (3,476) 

Reinsurance contract liabilities  -  (364)  (364) 

Total liabilities  (289,380)  5,218  (284,162) 

       
Accumulated deficit  121,320  (498)   120,822 

Total Equity  (65,811)  (498)  (66,309) 

  Impact of adoption of IFRS 17 

 
ASSETS 

 
As previously reported 

 Impact of adoption 
of IFRS 17 

 
As restated 

Insurance contract asset  14,609  (14,575)  34 

Reinsurance contract assets  -  1,803  1,803 
Deferred tax asset  683  (18)  665 
Total assets  474,593  (12,790)  461,803 

       
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES       

Insurance contract liabilities  (18,402)   13,522                     (4,880)  

Reinsurance contract liability  -     (193)                         (193)  

Total liabilities  (368,422)  13,329  (355,093) 

       

Accumulated deficit  80,779                               (536)  80,243 

Non-controlling interest  (454)  (3)  (457) 

Total Equity  (106,171)  (539)  (106,710) 
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The following table summarises the impact of IFRS 17 on the Group’s statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income for the year ended 2022:  

 

 
 
New and revised IFRS Standards in issue but not yet effective 
 
At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements, the Group has not applied 
amendments to the following IFRS Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective: 
 
Standards Effective date 
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 - Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor 
and its Associate or Joint Venture 

To be set by the Board 

Amendments to IAS 1 - Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 1 January 2024 
Amendments to IAS 1 - Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1 January 2024 
Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 - Supplier Finance Arrangements 1 January 2024 
Amendments to IFRS 16 - Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 1 January 2024 
IFRS 18 - Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 1 January 2027 
IFRS 19 - Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures 1 January 2027 

 
 
Management do not expect that the adoption of the Standards listed above will have a material 
impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group in future periods. 

 
 
3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
Basis of preparation 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. Historical 
cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for assets.  
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of 
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. 
In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics 
of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when 

  Impact of adoption of IFRS 17 

  

As previously 
reported 

 Impact of 
adoption 
of IFRS 17 

 

As restated 

Insurance underwriting income  187  (187)  - 

Insurance claims incurred, net of reinsurance  (322)  322  - 
Insurance revenue  -  12,595  12,595 
Insurance expenses  -  (131)  (131) 
Allocation of reinsurance premiums  -  (12,632)  (12,632) 
Amounts recoverable from reinsurance for incurred claims  -  142  142 
Insurance finance (expense)/income for insurance contracts issued  -  (283)  (283) 
Reinsurance finance expense for reinsurance contracts held  -  125  125 
Foreign exchange loss, net  (274)  118  (156) 
Income tax expense  (20,565)  28  (20,593) 
Profit for the year  40,536  41  40,577 
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pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure 
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for 
leasing transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that have some 
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2 Inventories. 
The same accounting policies, presentation and methods of computation have been followed the year 
ended 31 December 2023 as were applied in the preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022. 
 
The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below. 
 
Going Concern 
 
Management has, at the time of approving the consolidated financial statements, a reasonable 
expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. Thus, they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing 
the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Basis of consolidation 
 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company, its 
branches and entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) made up to 31 December each 
year. Control is achieved when the Company: 
 
• Has the power over the investee; 

• Is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 

• Has the ability to use its power to affects its returns. 
 
The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate 
that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above. 
 
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and 
ceases when the Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, the results of subsidiaries 
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in profit or loss from the date the Company 
gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary. 
 
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring 
the accounting policies used into line with the Group’s accounting policies. 
 
All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses, and cash flows relating to 
transactions between the members of the Group are eliminated on consolidation. 
Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein. 
Those interests of non-controlling shareholders that are present ownership interests entitling their 
holders to a proportionate share of net assets upon liquidation may initially be measured at fair 
value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. 
Other non-controlling interests are initially measured at fair value. Subsequent to acquisition, 
the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial 
recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity.  
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Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of 
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of the subsidiaries 
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results 
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 
Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted 
for as equity transactions. The carrying amount of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling 
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any 
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair 
value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to 
the owners of the Company. 
 
Functional and presentation currency 
 
The national currency of Azerbaijan is the Azerbaijani Manat (“AZN”), which is the Group’s 
functional currency, because it reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and 
circumstances of the Group, except for Hahn Cargo Services GmbH whose functional currency is 
Euro (“EUR”). The presentation currency for these consolidated financial statements is Azerbaijani 
Manat. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand AZN, except when otherwise indicated. 
 
Foreign currency transactions 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, transactions in currencies other than the Group’s 
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates 
of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair 
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the date 
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost in 
a foreign currency are not retranslated. Exchange differences on monetary items are recognized in 
profit or loss in the period in which they arise. 
 
The relevant exchange rates are as follows: 
 
 31 December  

2023 
 31 December  

2022 

     
USD / AZN 1.7000  1.7000 
EUR / AZN 1.8766  1.8114 

 

 
Revenue recognition 
 
Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in a 
contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group 
recognises revenue at a point in time when it transfers control of a product or service to a customer 
as described below. 
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On-ground services revenue 
 
Ground handling services for aircraft and cargo are recognized in the period in which the services 
are rendered. 
 
Business aviation  
 
Business aviation revenue includes transportation of private customers, including corporate and 
individuals in a private jet. Business aviation revenue is recognized when the transportation service 
is provided.  
 
Catering  
 
Revenue from catering services is recognized in the period in which the services are rendered. 
 
Rental income 
 
Rental income from operating leases is recognised as revenue on a straight-line basis over the term 
of the lease. 
 
Construction 
 
Construction revenue and related receivables recognised based on the stage of completion of each 
contract.  
 
Supply 
 
Revenue from supply services is recognized in the period in which the services are rendered. 
 
Technical maintenance 
 
Revenue from maintenance services is recognised in the period in which the services are rendered. 
 
Agent’s fee  
 
The Group collects money on behalf of an airlines company which actually performs a service and 
transfers it to the airlines company. In this case, the Group acts in the capacity of an agent rather 
than the principal in a transaction, and revenue (agent’s fee) recognised is the net amount of 
commission earned by the Group, and is recognised in the period in which the services are 
provided.  
 
Insurance revenue 
 
The insurance revenue for the year is the amount of expected premium receipts (excluding any 
investment component) allocated to the period. The Group allocates the expected premium 
receipts to each period of coverage on the basis of the passage of time; but if the expected pattern 
of release of risk during the coverage period differs significantly from the passage of time, then on 
the basis of the expected timing of incurred insurance service expenses. The Group changes the 
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basis of allocation between the two methods above as necessary, if facts and circumstances 
change. The change is accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate. For the 
periods presented, all revenue has been recognised on the basis of the passage of time. 
 
Operating expenses recognition 
 
Operating expenses are recognised in profit or loss upon utilisation of the service or as incurred. 
 
Finance costs 
 
Finance costs comprise interest expense on loans and borrowings. All finance cost are recognized in 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in which they are 
incurred. 
 
Employee benefit obligations 
 
Remuneration to employees in respect of services rendered during the reporting period, including 
accruals for unused vacation and bonuses and related social payments, is recognized as an expense 
in the period when it is earned. 
 
In accordance with the requirements of the Republic of Azerbaijan legislation, pension payments are 
calculated by an employer as certain percentages of salary expenses and transferred to the State 
Social Protection Fund of the Republic of Azerbaijan. This expense is charged to the statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in which the related salaries are 
earned. Upon retirement, all retirement benefit payments are made by the fund. The Group does not 
have any pension arrangements separate from the state pension system of the Republic of 
Azerbaijan. In addition, the Group has no post-retirement benefits or other significant compensated 
benefits requiring accrual. 
 
Taxation 
 
Income tax expense represents the sum of current income and deferred tax charges. 
 
Current tax 
 
Current income tax is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit 
as reported in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because it excludes 
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes 
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using 
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date the end of the 
reporting period.  
 
A provision is recognised for those matters for which the tax determination is uncertain but it is 
considered probable that there will be a future outflow of funds to a tax authority. The provisions 
are measured at the best estimate of the amount expected to become payable. The assessment is 
based on the judgement of tax professionals within the Group supported by previous experience in 
respect of such activities and in certain cases based on specialist independent tax advice. 
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Deferred tax 
 
Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax 
bases used in the computation of taxable profit and is accounted for using the liability method. 
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred 
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available 
against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 
 
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is 
settled or the asset is realised based on tax laws and rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the 
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the 
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the 
same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net 
basis. 
 
Current tax and deferred tax for the year 
 
Current and deferred tax are recognized in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, except when they relate to items that are recognized in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognized in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. 
 
Operating taxes 
 
Azerbaijan also has various other taxes (such as property tax, social tax and withholding tax), which 
are assessed on the Group’s activities. These taxes are included as a component of operating 
expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
 
Accounting for payments made to aircraft repair service providers under power-by-hour 
agreements 
 
As part of aircraft maintenance and overhaul (major maintenance) expenditure, the Group enters 
into power-by-hour (“PBH”) agreement for engine maintenance with original equipment 
manufacturers of aircraft engines. The monthly payments are based on the number of flight hours 
multiplied by fixed rate per hour and rate per flight hour is escalated on an annual basis in 
accordance with PBH agreement. Monthly payments made are partially recorded as an advance 
payment, to the extent that it is to be utilised through future overhaul and partially expensed as 
part of daily maintenance expenses.  
 
Upon completion of an overhaul, part of advanced payments is capitalised over aircraft. The 
proportion of the amount to be expensed and capitalised is determined based on the best estimate 
of the proportion of day-to-day maintenance compared to that which extends the useful lives of 
the engines. 
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Property and equipment 
 
Items of property and equipment held for use in the supply of services, or for administrative 
purposes, are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the asset. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related 
equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment. 
 
When parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted 
for as separate items (major components) of property and equipment. The cost relating to an 
acquired (owned or leased) aircraft reflects all components in its full service potential excluding the 
maintenance condition of its landing gear, airframe, auxiliary power unit and engines (major 
components). 
 
The cost relating to the major maintenance element is identified on acquisition as a separate 
component and depreciated till its next major maintenance event. 
 
Major spare parts and stand-by equipment are classified as property and equipment when 
the Group expects to use them during more than one period. Similarly, if the spare parts and 
servicing equipment can be used only in connection with an item of property and equipment, 
they are accounted for as property and equipment. 
 
The cost of replacing part of an item of property and equipment is recognised in the carrying 
amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will 
flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. Capitalized costs include major 
expenditures for improvements and replacements that extend the useful lives of the assets or 
increase their revenue generating capacity. Repairs and maintenance expenditures that do not 
meet the foregoing criteria for capitalisation are charged to the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income as incurred. 
 
An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on 
the disposal or retirement of an item of property and equipment is determined as the difference 
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
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Depreciation 
 
Depreciation of overhaul components of engines and aircraft is calculated using the units of 
production method based on the estimated flying hours or cycles, and depreciation for remaining 
property and equipment is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets less their 
residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line method on the following bases: 
 
Category Useful life  Residual value 

    
 Aircraft, related overhauls and equipment    

Airframe 20 years  10% of cost 
Engine 20 years  10% of cost 
Checks 1-3 years  nil 
Engine overhaul 4,500-8,000 flight hours  nil 
Other major components overhauls 9 years, 5,000-22,500 flight cycles  nil 

Buildings 35 years  nil 
Equipment 5-20 years  nil 
Furniture, fixtures and computer equipment 5 years  nil 
Vehicles 4 years  nil 
 
 
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of 
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective 
basis. 
 
Aircraft 
 
Aircraft are depreciated using the straight-line method over their average estimated useful life of 
20 years. 
 
Overhauls of major components and related expenditure, including replacement spares and labour 
costs, are capitalised and amortised over the average expected life between major overhauls based 
on flight hours and cycles. 
 
All other replacement spares and other costs relating to maintenance of an aircraft are charged to 
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income upon consumption or as incurred 
respectively. 
 
Impairment of property and equipment 
 
At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent 
of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an 
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which 
the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, 
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are 
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent 
allocation basis can be identified. 
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Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value 
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.  
 
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its 
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income. 
 
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-
generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that 
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior 
years.  
 
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income to the extent that it eliminates the impairment loss which has been 
recognised for the asset in prior years.  
 
Advances given 
 
Advances given are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Advances given is classified as 
non-current when it relates to an asset which will itself be classified as non-current upon initial 
recognition. Advances given to acquire assets are transferred to the carrying amount of the asset 
once the Group has obtained control of the asset and it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the asset will flow to the Group. If there is an indication that the assets, goods or 
services relating to advance will not be received, the carrying value of the advances given is written 
down accordingly and a corresponding impairment loss is recognized in statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income for the period. 
 
Inventories 
 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials 
and, where applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing 
the inventories to their present location and condition. Cost is calculated using the first in first out 
cost method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of 
completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution. 
 
Provisions  
 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
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The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding 
the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present 
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where effect of the time value 
of money is material). 
 
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be 
recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that 
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 
 
Financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument.  
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are added to 
or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, 
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss. 
 
Financial assets 
 
Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: cash and cash equivalents, 
bank deposits, insurance contract assets, reinsurance contract assets and trade and other 
receivables. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is 
determined at the time of initial recognition. 
All financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale of 
a financial asset is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the financial asset within 
the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus 
transaction costs.  
 
All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of IFRS 9 are required to be subsequently 
measured at amortised cost or fair value on the basis of the Group’s business model for managing 
the financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in current bank accounts, cash in transit, petty cash and 
VAT deposits. 
 
Receivables 
 
Receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. Receivables including trade and other receivables, cash and cash 
equivalents, bank deposits, insurance contract assets and reinsurance contract assets are measured 
at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. 
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Amortised cost and effective interest method 
 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument 
and of allocating interest income over the relevant period.  
 
For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that 
are credit-impaired on initial recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral 
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) excluding 
expected credit losses, through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, 
a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition.  
 
The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial 
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective 
interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted 
for any loss allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of 
a financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance. 
 
Interest income is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
 
The Group recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses on investments in debt 
instruments that are measured at amortised cost. The amount of expected credit losses is updated 
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective 
financial instrument. 
 
The expected credit losses on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix based on the 
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, 
general economic conditions, credit ratings and an assessment of both the current as well as 
the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where 
appropriate. 
 
(i) Significant increase in credit risk  
 
In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the 
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial 
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative 
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking 
information that is available without undue cost or effort.  
 
Forward-looking information considered includes the future prospects of the industries in which 
the Group’s debtors operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial analysts, 
governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar organizations, as well as consideration 
of various external sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate to the Group’s 
core operations.  
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In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has 
increased significantly since initial recognition:  
 

• An actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external 
(if available) or internal credit rating; 

• Significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular financial 
instrument, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for 
the debtor, or the length of time or the extent to which the fair value of a financial asset has 
been less than its amortized cost; 

• Existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are 
expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;  

• An actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; 

• Significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor; and 

• An actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological 
environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet 
its debt obligations. 

 

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk 
on a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments 
are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that 
demonstrates otherwise.  
 
Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not 
increased significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have 
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if: 
 
1. The financial instrument has a low risk of default; 

2. The debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near 
term; and  

3. Adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not 
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. 

 
The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when the asset has external credit 
rating of ‘investment grade’ in accordance with the globally understood definition or if an external 
rating is not available, the asset has an internal rating of ‘performing’. Performing means that 
the counterparty has a strong financial position and there is no past due amounts.  
 
The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are 
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due. 
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(ii) Definition of default  
 
If historical experience indicates that financial assets, for which information developed internally or 
obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including 
the Group, in full, the Group considers this as an event of default for internal risk management 
purposes. 
 
Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial 
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information 
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate. 
 
(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets  
 
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is 
credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events: 
 
(a) Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower; 

(b) A breach of contract, such as a default or past due event (see (ii) above); 

(c) The lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s 
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would 
not otherwise consider; 

(d) It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation; or 

(e) The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties. 
 
It may not be possible to identify a single discrete event instead; the combined effect of several 
events may have caused financial assets to become credit-impaired. 
 
(iv) Write-off policy  
 
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is in 
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has 
been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade 
receivables, when the amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial 
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery 
procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Recoveries resulting from 
the Group’s enforcement activities will result in impairment gains and recognised in the statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
 
(v) Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses  
 
The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given 
default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. 
The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data 
adjusted by forward-looking information as described above. As for the exposure at default, for 
financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date. 
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For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual 
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the 
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate. If the Group has 
measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the 
previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for 
lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-
month ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets for which simplified approach was used. 
 
The Group recognizes an impairment gain or loss in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their 
carrying amount through a loss allowance account. 
 
The expected credit losses on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by reference 
to past default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current financial position, 
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions of the industry in 
which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction 
of conditions at the reporting date. The Group has considered a probability of default of 100 per 
cent against all receivables over 90 days past due because historical experience has indicated that 
these receivables are generally not recoverable. 
 
There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the 
current reporting period. 
 
Derecognition of financial assets 
 
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire; or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another entity.  
 
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and 
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset 
and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to 
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds 
received. 
 
On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised 
in profit or loss. 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
Classification as debt or equity 
 
Debt and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified as either financial liabilities or as 
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of 
a financial liability and an equity instrument. 
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Financial liabilities 
 
Financial liabilities (other than financial guarantee), including trade and other payables are initially 
measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on an 
effective yield basis. 
 
Derecognition of financial liabilities 
 
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial 
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.  
 
Offsetting 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of 
financial position only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts 
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liability 
simultaneously. Income and expense is not offset in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income unless required or permitted by any accounting standard or interpretation, 
and as specifically disclosed in the accounting policies of the Group. 
 
Insurance contracts 
 
The Group utilises accounting policies determined by Central Bank of Azerbaijan (hereinafter 
referred to as CBAR) for insurance companies of Azerbaijan. The Group offers various insurance 
products in property and casualty, liability and personal insurance. Main insurance contracts 
comprise of air CASCO, aircraft liability insurance for aircraft owners and compulsory property 
insurance. 
 
IFRS 17 replaces IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts for annual periods on or after 1 January 2023. The 
Group has restated comparative information for 2022 applying the full retrospective transition 
approach prescribed in the standard. IFRS 17 establishes principles for the recognition, 
measurement, presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts, reinsurance contract and 
investment contracts with discretionary participation features. It introduces a model that measures 
groups of contracts based on the Groups estimates of the present value of future cash flow that are 
expected to arise as the group fulfils the contracts, an explicit risk adjustment for non-financial risk 
and a Contractual Service Margin (“CSM”). 
 
Under IFRS 17, insurance revenue in each reporting period represents the change in the liabilities 
for remaining coverage that relate to services for which the Group expects to receive consideration 
and an allocation of premiums that relate to recovering insurance acquisition cash flows. in 
addition, investment components are no longer included in insurance revenue and insurance 
service expenses. 
 
The Group applies the Premium Allocation Approach (“PAA”) to simplify the measurement of 
contacts when measuring liabilities for remaining coverage, the PAA is similar to the Group’s 
previous accounting treatment. However, when measuring for liabilities incurred claims, the Group 
now discounts the future cash flows and includes an explicit risk adjustment for non- financial risk. 
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The nature of the changes in accounting policies can be summarized, as follows: 
 
(i) Classification of contracts 
 
The Group issues insurance contracts that transfer insurance risk. Insurance contracts uncertain 
future event (the “insured event”) adversely affects the policyholder or other beneficiary are 
classified as insurance contracts. 
 
The Group issues non-life insurance to individuals and businesses. Non-life insurance products 
offered include property, motor, liability, and others. These products offer protection of 
policyholder’s assets and indemnification of other parties that have suffered damage because of a 
policyholder’s actions. 
 
(ii) Level of aggregation 
 
Insurance contracts are aggregated into groups for measurement purposes. Groups of insurance 
contracts are determined by identifying portfolios of insurance contracts, each comprising contracts 
subject to similar risks and managed together and dividing each portfolio into annual cohorts (i.e. by 
year of issue). The Group identifies portfolio per lines of businesses of insurance and reinsurance 
contracts as generally all insurance contracts issued by the Group has similar risks and 
characteristics. 
 
(iii) Recognition and measurement of contracts 
 
The Group recognises insurance contracts issued from the earliest of the following: 
- the beginning of the coverage period of the group of contracts. 
- the date when the first payment from a policyholder becomes due.  
- if there is no contractual due date, then it is considered to be the date when the first payment is 
received from the policyholder.  
 
The Group recognises reinsurance contracts held as it entered from the earlier of the following: 
 
- the beginning of the coverage period of the group of reinsurance contracts held. However, the 
Group delays the recognition of a group of reinsurance contracts held that provide proportionate 
coverage until the date any underlying insurance contract is initially recognised, if that date is later 
than the beginning of the coverage period of the group of reinsurance contracts held. 
- the date the Group recognizes an onerous group of underlying insurance contracts if the Group 
entered into the related reinsurance contract held in the group of reinsurance contracts held at or 
before that date. 
 
Cash flows are within the boundary of a contract if they arise from substantive rights and 
obligations that exist during the reporting period under which the Group can compel the 
policyholder to pay premiums or has a substantive obligation to provide services. 
Substantive obligation to provide services ends when: 
 
a) The Group has the practical ability to reassess the risks of the particular policyholder and can set 
a price or level of benefits that fully reflects those reassessed risks; or 
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b) Both of the following criteria are satisfied: 
- the Group has the practical ability to reassess the risks of the portfolio that contains the contract 
and can set a price or level of benefits that fully reflects the risks of that portfolio; and 
- the pricing of the premiums for coverage up to the reassessment date does not take into account 
risks that relate to periods after the reassessment date. 
 
(iv) Reinsurance contracts 
 
Cash flows are within the contract boundary if they arise from substantive rights and obligations 
that exist during the reporting period in which the Group is compelled to pay amounts to the 
reinsurer or has a substantive right to receive services from the reinsurer. A substantive right to 
receive services from the reinsurer ends when the reinsurer: 
 
- has the practical ability to reassess the risks transferred to it and can set a price or level of 
benefits that fully reflects those reassessed risks; or 
- has a substantive right to terminate the coverage. 
 
The contract boundary is reassessed at each reporting date and, therefore, may change over time. 
 
(v) Measurement 
 
PAA which is a simplified measurement model under IFRS 17, is used to measure portfolio of the 
Company. The Group reasonably expects that using PAA would produce a measurement of the 
liability for remaining coverage for the company that would not differ materially from the one that 
would be produced applying the general measurement model requirements; or the coverage period 
of each contract is equal or less than one year. 
 
PAA which is a simplified measurement model under IFRS 17, is used to measure reinsurance assets 
held by the Group as they bear same characteristics as underlying insurance contracts. On initial 
recognition of each group of insurance contracts that are not onerous, the carrying amount of the 
liability for remaining coverage (“LRC”) is measured at the premiums received on initial recognition 
less any insurance acquisition cash flows at that date, including any amount arising from the 
derecognition at that date of any asset recognised for insurance acquisition cash flows paid before 
that date, plus or minus any other assets or liabilities previously recognised for cash flows related to 
that group. 
 
For reinsurance contracts held on initial recognition, the company measures the remaining 
coverage at the amount of ceding premiums paid. 
 
(vi) Subsequent measurement under PAA 
 
The carrying amount of a group of insurance contracts issued at the end of each reporting period is 
the sum of: 
 
- the LRC; and 
- the Liability Incurred Claims (“LIC”), comprising the fulfilment cash flows (“FCF”) related to past 
service allocated to the group at the reporting date. 
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The carrying amount of a group of reinsurance contracts held at the end of each reporting period is 
the sum of: 
 
- the asset for remaining coverage, comprising of the ceding premiums payable and reinsurance 
commission receivable; and 
- the asset for incurred claims, comprising the FCF related to past service allocated to the group at 
the reporting date expected to be recovered from reinsurers. 
 
The Group estimates the liability for incurred claims as the fulfilment cash flows related to incurred 
claims. Fulfilment cash flows comprise estimates of future cash flows, an adjustment to reflect the 
time value of money and the financial risks related to future cash flows, to the extent that the 
financial risks are not included in the estimates of future cash flows, and a risk adjustment for non-
financial risk. 
 
The Group’s objective in estimating future cash flows is to determine the expected value of a range 
of scenarios that reflects the full range of possible outcomes. The cash flows from each scenario are 
discounted and weighted by the estimated probability of that outcome to derive an expected 
present value. The determination of the discount rate that reflects the characteristics of the cash 
flow and liquidity characteristics of the insurance contracts requires significant judgement and 
estimation. 
 
(vii) De-recognition and contract modification 
 
The Group derecognises a contract when it is extinguished i.e., when the specified obligations in the 
contract expire or are discharged or cancelled. The Group also derecognises a contract if its terms 
are modified in a way that would have changed the accounting for the contract significantly had the 
new terms always existed, in which case a new contract based on the modified terms is recognised. 
If a contract modification does not result in derecognition, then the company treats the changes in 
cash flows caused by the modification as changes in the estimates of fulfilment cash flows. 
 
(viii) Acquisition and attributable cost 
 
Insurance acquisition cash flows are the costs that are directly associated with selling and handling 
acquired contracts. The Group considers expenses for the underwriting department, expenses for 
sales department, and commission expenses as acquisition costs. The Group has in place an 
allocation technique to allocate the costs based on direct to indirect ratios. Both acquisition and 
attributable costs fall under the insurance service expense while the non-attributable costs are 
reported under other operating expenses and are not allocated to the groups of contracts. 
 
Presentation 
 
(i) Insurance revenue: 
 
For contracts measured under the PAA, the insurance revenue for each period is the amount of 
expected premium receipts for providing services in the period. The Group allocates the expected 
premium receipts to each period on the basis of the passage of time. 
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(ii) Insurance service expenses: 
 
Insurance service expenses include the following: 
 
- Incurred claims for the period. 
- Other incurred directly attributable expenses. 
- Insurance acquisition cash flows. 
- Changes that relate to past service – changes in the FCF relating to the LIC. 
- Changes that relate to future service – changes in the FCF that result in onerous contract losses or 
reversals of those losses. 
 
(iii) Net expenses from reinsurance contracts: 
 
Net expenses from reinsurance contracts comprise reinsurance expenses less amounts recovered 
from reinsurers. The Group recognises reinsurance expenses as it receives coverage or other 
services under groups of reinsurance contracts. For contracts measured under the PAA, the Group 
recognises reinsurance expenses based on the passage of time over the coverage period of a group 
of contracts. Income and expenses from reinsurance contracts are presented separately from 
income and expenses from insurance contracts. Income and expenses from reinsurance contracts, 
other than insurance finance income or expenses, are presented on a net basis as 'net expenses 
from reinsurance contracts' in the insurance service result. 
 
 

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 
 

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, management is 
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be 
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects 
both current and future periods. 
 
The following are the critical judgments and estimates that management have made in the process 
of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Critical judgments in applying accounting policies and estimates 
 
Taxation 
 
Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many 
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group 
recognizes liabilities for anticipated additional tax assessments as a result of tax audits based on 
estimates of whether it is probable that additional taxes will be due.  
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Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially 
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax provisions in the period in which such 
determinations are made.  
 
Fiscal periods remain open to review by the tax authorities in respect of taxes for the three 
calendar years preceding the year of tax review. Under certain circumstances reviews may cover 
longer periods. While the Group believes it has provided adequately for all tax liabilities based on 
its understanding of the tax legislation, the above facts may create additional financial risks for 
the Group. 
 
Income tax specifically chargeable to policyholders  
 
When income tax expenses are specifically chargeable to the policyholder under the terms of the 
contract, they are measured applying IAS 12, and the Group includes those amounts in the 
fulfilment cash flows applying IFRS 17. The Group accounts for them as a reduction in the liability 
for remaining coverage and recognises insurance revenue when incurred. 
 
Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
The below are listed key estimations that management have used in the process of applying the 
Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in 
the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Aircraft maintenance and overhaul expenditure under Power by the Hour agreements 
 
The Group has entered into several Power by the Hour (“PBH”) engine maintenance agreements 
with original equipment manufacturers of aircraft engines. The monthly payments are based on the 
number of flying hours flown. A portion of the cost is expensed at a fixed rate per hour during the 
term of the PBH agreement. The remaining payments made are recorded as an advance payment, 
to the extent that it is to be utilised through future maintenance activities, if any, or capitalised 
upon completion of an overhaul. 
The proportion of the amount to be expensed and capitalised is determined based on the best 
estimate of the proportion of day-to-day maintenance compared to maintenance which extends 
the useful lives of the engine.  
 
Provision for expected credit losses on financial assets 
 
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate expected credit losses for financial assets. The 
provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments that have 
similar loss patterns (by geography). 
 
Probability of default (PD) constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. PD is an estimate of the 
likelihood of default over a given time horizon, the calculation of which includes historical data, 
assumptions and expectations of future conditions. 
 
Loss given default is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between 
the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, taking into 
account cash flows from collateral and integral credit enhancements. 
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The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group 
calibrates the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking 
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) are 
expected to deteriorate over the next year, which can lead to an increased number of defaults in 
the aviation sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At every reporting date, the historical 
observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed. 
Where applicable, the Group relies on default rates derived from external rates of counterparties. 
The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic 
conditions and expected credit losses is a significant estimate. The amount of expected credit losses 
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. Uncertainties 
regarding changes in the financial condition of customers, either adverse or positive, could impact 
the amount and timing of any additional allowances for doubtful accounts that may be required. 
This may have a negative impact on the financial results if additional losses occur that were not 
anticipated in prior periods. 
 
Insurance and reinsurance contracts 
 
The Group applies the PAA to simplify the measurement of insurance contracts. When measuring 
liabilities for remaining coverage, the PAA is broadly similar to the Group’s previous accounting 
treatment under IFRS 4. However, when measuring liabilities for incurred claims, the Group now 
discounts cash flows that are expected to occur more than one year after the date on which the 
claims are incurred and includes an explicit risk adjustment for non-financial risk. 
 
Liability for incurred claims 
 
The ultimate cost of outstanding claims is estimated by using a range of standard actuarial claims 
projection techniques, such as Chain Ladder and Bornheutter-Ferguson methods. 
 
The main assumption underlying these techniques is that a Group past claims development 
experience can be used to project future claims development and hence ultimate claims costs. 
These methods extrapolate the development of paid and incurred losses, average costs per claim 
(including claims handling costs), and claim numbers based on the observed development of earlier 
years and expected loss ratios. Historical claims development is mainly analysed by accident years, 
but can also be further analysed by geographical area, as well as by significant business lines and 
claim types. Large claims are usually separately addressed, either by being reserved at the face 
value of loss adjuster estimates or separately projected in order to reflect their future 
development. In most cases, no explicit assumptions are made regarding future rates of claims 
inflation or loss ratios. Instead, the assumptions used are those implicit in the historical claims 
development data on which the projections are based.  
 
Additional qualitative judgement is used to assess the extent to which past trends may not apply in 
future, (e.g., to reflect one-off occurrences, changes in external or market factors such as public 
attitudes to claiming, economic conditions, levels of claims inflation, judicial decisions and 
legislation, as well as internal factors such as portfolio mix, policy features and claims handling 
procedures) in order to arrive at the estimated ultimate cost of claims that present the probability 
weighted expected value outcome from the range of possible outcomes, taking account of all the 
uncertainties involved. Other key circumstances affecting the reliability of assumptions include 
variation in interest rates, delays in settlement and changes in foreign currency exchange rates. 
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Discount rates 
 
Insurance and reinsurance contract liabilities are calculated by discounting expected future cash 
flows at a risk free rate, plus an illiquidity premium where applicable. Risk free rates are determined 
by reference to the yields of highly liquid AAA-rated sovereign securities in the currency of the 
insurance and reinsurance contract liabilities. The illiquidity premium is determined by reference to 
the observable market rates. The Group used the yield curve for discounting provided by the CBAR 
and considered the market rates when calculating the illiquidity premium. 
 
Risk adjustment for non-financial risk 
 
The risk adjustment for non-financial risk is the compensation that the Group requires for bearing 
the uncertainty about the amount and timing of the cash flows of groups of insurance contracts. 
The risk adjustment reflects an amount that an insurer would rationally pay to remove the 
uncertainty that future cash flows will exceed the expected value amount. The Group has estimated 
the risk adjustment using a confidence level (probability of sufficiency) approach at the 80th 
percentile. That is, the Group has assessed its indifference to uncertainty for all product lines (as an 
indication of the compensation that it requires for bearing non-financial risk) as being equivalent to 
the 80th percentile confidence level less the mean of an estimated probability distribution of the 
future cash flows. The Group has estimated the probability distribution of the future cash flows, 
and the additional amount above the expected present value of future cash flows required to meet 
the target percentiles. 
 
 

5. REVENUE 
 

 Year ended 
31 December 2023   

Year ended 
31 December 2022  

     
On-ground services   154,370    139,055  
Catering revenue  58,441  

 
 50,033  

Business aviation  48,863  
 

 55,207  
Construction revenue  11,684     12,949  
Supply revenue  8,384   6,486 
Agent's fee  4,224   5,139   
Technical maintenance  2,767   2,781  
Rental income from investment property  -    

 
 10,525  

Other sales  838  
 

 841  

  
   

Total 289,571 
 

283,016   

 
 

Rental income from investment property consists of rental income generated from the leasing of 
buildings by the related party.  

 
Revenue generated from Silk Way Airlines LLC and its subsidiaries in 2023 represent more than 12% 
(2022: 15% of total revenue) of the total Group revenue (2023: AZN 34,424 thousand and 2022: 
AZN 43,041 thousand). 
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6. INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE CONTRACT 
 
The breakdown of groups of insurance and reinsurance contracts issued, and reinsurance contracts 
held, that are in an asset position and those in a liability position is set out in the table below: 
 
 31 December 2023   31 December 2022 (restated)   

 Assets Liabilities Net  Assets Liabilities Net 

        

Insurance contracts issued        

All insurance types 13 (5,031) (5,018)  34 (4,880) (4,846) 

Total insurance contracts issued 13 (5,031) (5,018)  34 (4,880) (4,846) 

 
       

Reinsurance contracts held        

All insurance types 2,317 (135) 2,182  1,803 (193) 1,610 

Total reinsurance contracts held 2,317 (135) 2,182  1,803 (193) 1,610 
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Roll-forward of net asset or liability for insurance contracts issued showing the liability for 
remaining coverage and the liability for incurred claims: 
 

 

31 December 2022 - restated  

 Liabilities for remaining 
coverage  

  Liabilities for Incurred claims    

 Excluding loss 
component  

  
 Loss 

component  
 

 Estimates of the 
PV of future cash 

flows  

  Risk 
adjustment  

  Total  

 Restated insurance contract assets as at 1 
January  

(1,740)  -  -  -  (1,740) 

 Restated insurance contract liabilities as at 1 
January 

1,259  -  2,029  188  3,476  

 Net insurance contract liabilities as at 1 January  (481)  -  2,029  188  1,736  

 Insurance revenue  (12,595)  -  -  -  (12,595) 
 Insurance service expenses   20  -  131  (20)        131  

 Incurred claims and other expenses  -  -  1,804  189    1,993  

 Amortisation of insurance acquisition cash flows  20  -  -  -        20  

 Changes to liabilities for incurred claims  -  -  (1,673)  (209)  (1,882) 

 Insurance service result  (12,575)  -  131  (20)  (12,464) 
 Insurance finance expenses  -  -  267  16       283  

 Total changes in the statement of 
comprehensive income   (12,575)  -  398  (4)  (12,181) 

          

 Cash flows           

 Premiums received  17,737  -  -  -   17,737 
 Claims and other expenses paid   -   -  (199)   -  (199) 

 Insurance acquisition cash flows            (20)  -  -   -  (20) 

 Total cash flows  17,717  -  (199)  -  17,518  

 Insurance contract assets as at 31 December  (34)  -  -  -  (34) 
 Insurance contract liabilities as at 31 December         2,363   -  2,334  184  4,880 

 Net insurance contract liabilities as at 31 
December         2,329   -  2,334  184  4,846 

31 December 2023 
Liabilities for remaining 

coverage 
 Liabilities for Incurred claims   

 

Excluding loss 
component 

  
Loss 

component 
 

Estimates of the 
PV of future cash 

flows 

 Risk 
adjustment 

 Total 

Insurance contract assets as at 1 January (34)  -  -  -  (34) 

Insurance contract liabilities as at 1 January 2,538  -  2,158  184  4,880 

Net insurance contract liabilities as at 1 January 2,504  -  2,158  184  4,846 
Insurance revenue (11,596)  -  -  -  (11,596) 
Insurance service expenses  6  -  856  34  896 
Incurred claims and other expenses -  -  2,553  229  2,782 
Amortisation of insurance acquisition cash flows 6  -  -  -  6 

Changes to liabilities for incurred claims -  -  (1,697)  (195)  (1,892) 

Insurance services results (11,590)  -  856  34  (10,700) 

Insurance finance expenses -  -  42  2  44 

Total changes in the statement of comprehensive 
income  (11,590)  -  898  36  (10,656) 

          

Cash flows          

Premiums received 14,542  -  -  -  14,542 
Claims and other expenses paid -  -  (620)  -  (620) 

Insurance acquisition cash flows (3)  -  -  -  (3) 

Total cash flows 14,539  -  (620)  -  13,919 

Insurance contract assets as at 31 December (13)  -  -  -  (13) 

Insurance contract liabilities as at 31 December 2,376  -  2,435  220  5,031 

Net insurance contract liabilities as at 31 
December 2,363  -  2,435  220  5,018 
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Roll-forward of net asset or liability for reinsurance contracts issued showing the liability for 
remaining coverage and the liability for incurred claims: 

 

31 December 23 
Assets for remaining coverage  

 

Amounts recoverable on incurred 
claims 

 

Excluding loss 
recovery 

component 

 Loss 
component 

 
Estimates of the 
PV of future cash 

flows 

 Risk 
adjustment 

 Total 

Reinsurance contract assets as at 1 January 618  -  1,044  141  1,803 
Reinsurance contract liabilities as at 1 January (193)  -  -  -  (193) 

Net reinsurance contract assets at 1 January 425  -  1,044  141  1,610 
An allocation of reinsurance premiums (11,983)  -  -  -  (11,983) 
Amounts recoverable from reinsurers for 
incurred claims  

-  -  661  34  695 

Amounts recoverable for incurred claims and 
other expenses  

-  -  1,710  189  1,899 

Changes to amounts recoverable for incurred 
claims 

-  -  (1,049)  (155)  (1,204) 

Net income or expense from reinsurance 
contracts held  (11,983)  -  661  34  (11,288) 
Reinsurance finance income -  -  27  1  28 

Total changes in the statement of 
comprehensive income   (11,983)  -  688  35  (11,260) 

Cash flows          

Premiums paid 12,833  -  -  -  12,833 
Amounts received 5  -  742  -  747 

Total cash flows 12,838  -  742  -  13,580 
Reinsurance contract assets as at 31 December 1,404  -  737  176  2,317 
Reinsurance contract liabilities as at 31 December 135  -  -  -  135 

Net reinsurance contract assets as at 31 
December 1,539  -  737  176  2,452 

 

31 December 2022 - restated   Assets for remaining coverage    Amounts recoverable on incurred 
claims  

  

 

 Excluding loss 
recovery 

component  

  Loss 
component  

 
 Estimates of the 
PV of future cash 

flows  

  Risk 
adjustment  

  Total  

Restated reinsurance contract assets as at 1 
January  686  -  1,848  140  2,674 
Restated reinsurance contract liabilities as at 1 
January  (364)  -  -  -  (364) 

Net reinsurance contract assets as at 1 January  322  -  1,848  140  2,310 
Allocation of reinsurance premiums  (12,632)  -  -  -  (12,632) 
Amounts recoverable from reinsurers for incurred 
claims   -  -  150  (8)  142 
Amounts recoverable for incurred claims and 
other expenses   -  -  1,467  152  1,619 
Changes to amounts recoverable for incurred 
claims  -  -  (1,316)  (160)  (1,476) 

Net income or expense from reinsurance 
contracts held   (12,632)  -  150   (8)  (12,490) 
Reinsurance finance income  -  -  115   10  125 

Total changes in the statement of 
comprehensive income    (12,632)  -  265  2  (12,365) 

Cash flows           
Premiums paid  12,780  -  -  -  12,780 
Amounts received  (45)  -  (97)  -  (142) 

Total cash flows  12,735  -  (97)  -  12,638 

Reinsurance contract assets as at 31 December  618  -  1,044  141  1,803 
Reinsurance contract liabilities as at 31 December  (193)  -  -  -  (193) 

Net reinsurance contract assets as at 31 
December  425  -  1,044  141  1,610 
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In addition to scenario testing, the development of insurance liabilities provides a measure of the 
Group’s ability to estimate the ultimate value of claims. The top half of each table illustrates how 
the Group estimate of liability for incurred claims for each accident year has changed at successive 
year-ends. The bottom half of the table reconciles the cumulative claims to the amount appearing 
in the statement of financial position.  
 
The following tables illustrate the Group’s estimate of total liability for incurred claims for the years 
up to 2023: 
 

 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Total 
 AZN AZN AZN AZN AZN AZN AZN AZN 
         

At the end of each reporting year 392 457 13,527 882 121 172 1,871 17,422 

One year later 1,106 6,839 15,312 1,350 163 645 - 25,415 

Two years later 1,126 6,839 17,459 1,350 163 - - 26,937 

Three years later 1,126 6,839 17,459 1,350 - - - 26,774 

Four years later 1,126 6,839 17,459 - - - - 25,424 

Five years later 1,126 6,839 - - - - - 7,965 

Six years later 1,126 - - - - - - 1,126 

Estimate of cumulative claims 1,126 6,839 17,459 1,350 163 645 1,871 29,453 

Cumulative payments to date 838 6,818 17,435 1,055 138 616 147 27,047 

Total gross undiscounted liabilities for incurred 
claims 

289 21 24 294 25 29 1,724 2,406 

Prior accident years        243 

Effect of discounting        307 

Risk adjustment        (300) 

Total discounted gross reserves included in the 
statement of financial position 

       2,656 

 

 

 
  

Restated 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Total 
 AZN AZN AZN AZN AZN AZN AZN AZN 
         

At the end of each reporting year 229 66 465 83 60 88 181 1,172 

One year later 264 89 539 88 101 108 - 1,189 

Two years later 264 89 613 88 101 - - 1,155 

Three years later 264 89 613 88 - - - 1,054 

Four years later 264 89 613 - - - - 966 

Five years later 264 89 - - - - - 353 

Six years later 264 - - - - - - 264 

Estimate of cumulative claims 264 89 613 88 101 108 181 1,444 

Cumulative payments to date 103 86 612 82 98 101 83 1,165 

Total net undiscounted liabilities for incurred 
claims  

161 3 2 7 3 7 98 281 

Prior accident years        44 

Effect of discounting        307 

Net risk adjustments        (115) 

Total discounted net reserves included in the 
statement of financial position 

       517 
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7. EMPLOYEE COSTS 
 

 Year ended 
31 December 2023   

Year ended 
31 December 2022 

     
Salaries and bonuses  57,679  

 
 46,461  

Social taxes   10,661  
 

 8,172  

  
   

Total  68,340  
 

 54,633  

 
 
8. MATERIAL EXPENSES 

 

 Year ended 
31 December 2023   

Year ended 
31 December 2022  

     
Foods, beverages, and supplies used in catering services 25,790  22,323 
Construction materials 7,791  9,750 
Food products sold by supply and logistics services  7,221  

 
 5,297  

Other 3,135  3,632 

     
Total 43,937  

 
41,002  

 
 
9. OTHER EXPENSES 

 Year ended 
31 December 2023   

Year ended 
31 December 2022  

     
Bank charges  2,012    1,507  
Utility expenses  1,973    1,707  
Professional services  1,745    1,244  
Software expense  1,404    3,188  
Technical and maintenance expenses of terminal  609    1,179  
Business trip 773  543 
Inventory write-off -  870 
Other1 5,239  4,917 

     
Total  13,755  

 
 15,155  

 
1 AZN 543 thousand business trip expenses were included within “other” in comparative disclosure figures. AZN 604 thousand insurance 
expenses (related to medical and other) of 2022 that were separately disclosed in the face of profit or loss statement were included 
within other expenses in comparative figures. 

 

 
10. CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY EXPENSES 

 
The Group constructed assets during 2023 and 2022 for one of the state-owned entities as part of 
corporate social responsibility activities. The construction of one of the assets was primarily 
completed during 2023 and the asset will be transferred upon finalization of respective documents 
in 2024. AZN 40 thousand and AZN 33,980 thousand were spent for the construction of this asset in 
2023 and 2022, respectively.  
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The Group spent AZN 29,320 thousand and AZN 6,000 thousand during 2023 and 2022 for the 
construction of second asset which was not finalized as at 31 December 2023. 
 
The Group started construction of the third asset in 2023. AZN 19,680 thousand was recognized as 
a corporate social responsibility expense for this asset during the reporting period. The construction 
was not finalised as at 31 December 2023. 
 
During 2022, the Group constructed asset with a cost of AZN 2,700 thousand for the Ministry of 
Youth and Sport of the Republic of Azerbaijan and transferred it free of charge as part of its 
corporate social responsibility activities. 
 
The Group expects to transfer the all the asset for free when the construction will be completed. 

 
 
11. FINANCE COSTS 

 

 

Year ended 
31 December 2023   

Year ended 
31 December 2022  

     
Interest on loans and borrowings 9,462   8,666 
Other 1,573   722    

    
Total finance costs 11,035  9,388 

 
 

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 
 

 

Year ended 
31 December 2023  

Year ended 
31 December 2022 

(restated) 

     
Current income tax expense  (14,535)   (18,879) 
Deferred tax expense  (4,525)   (1,714) 
Changes in estimates related to prior years’ income tax  (1,428)   -    
Changes in estimates related to prior years’ deferred tax  1,428    -    

     
Total income tax expense (19,060)  (20,593) 

 
The income tax expense for the year calculated at statutory income tax rate of 20% can be 
reconciled to the accounting profit as follows: 
 

 

Year ended 
31 December 2023 

 Year ended 
31 December 2022 

(restated)  

     
Profit before income tax 42,415  61,170 
    
Income tax expense at statutory tax rate  (8,483)   (12,234) 
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit  (10,394)   (8,276) 
Effect of non-recognized tax losses  (183)   (83) 

     
Total income tax expense  (19,060)  (20,593) 
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13. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES  
 
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income 
tax purposes. The tax effect on the major temporary differences that give rise to the deferred 
balances as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 is presented below: 

 31 December 2023  

31 December 2022  
(restated) 

Deferred tax liabilities attributable to:    
Property and equipment (9,715)  (9,396) 
Trade and other receivables 1,913  3,516 
Long-term payables   (1,907)  - 
Trade and other payables 576  576 
Advances given 361  (77) 
Inventories -  150 
Finance lease receivables -  (169) 

     
Total deferred tax liability (8,772)  (5,400) 

         
Deferred tax assets attributable to:    
Insurance contract assets 2,869  2,820 
Reinsurance contract assets (709)  (555) 
Insurance contract liabilities (1,247)  (1,639) 
Reinsurance contract liabilities 27  39 

    
Total deferred tax asset 940  665 

 

 
Movement in temporary differences during the year 

 

  

1 January 2023 
(restated)  

Recognised in 
profit or loss  

 
31 December 2023  

Deferred tax liabilities      
Property and equipment  (9,396)   (319)   (9,715) 
Trade and other receivables  3,516    (1,603)   1,913  
Long-term trade payables  -      (1,907)   (1,907) 
Trade and other payables  576    -      576  
Advances given  (77)   438    361  
Inventories  150    (150)   -  
Finance lease receivables   (169)   169    -    

       
Total deferred tax liabilities (5,400)  (3,372)  (8,772) 

 
Deferred tax assets      
Insurance contract assets 2,820  49     2,869 
Reinsurance contract assets (555)  (154)  (709) 
Insurance contract liabilities (1,639)  392  (1,247) 
Reinsurance contract liabilities 39  (12)  27 

      
Total deferred tax assets 665   275     940 
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1 January 2022 
(restated)  

Recognized in  
profit or loss 

(restated) 

 
31 December 2022 

(restated) 

Deferred tax liabilities      
Property and equipment (7,146)   (2,268)  (9,414) 
Trade and other receivables 4,225   (691)  3,534 
Trade and other payables 576   -     576 
Finance lease receivables (120)   (49)  (169) 
Inventories 6   144   150 
Advances given (82)   5   (77) 
Loans and borrowings (506)   506   - 
Investment property 17   (17)  - 

       
Total deferred tax liabilities (3,030)  (2,370)  (5,400) 

 
Deferred tax assets      
Insurance contract assets 1,187   1,633     2,820 
Reinsurance contract assets (535)  (20)  (555) 
Insurance contract liabilities (716)  (923)  (1,639) 
Reinsurance contract liabilities 73  (34)  39 

      
Total deferred tax assets 9   656     665 
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14. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
 

Cost 
Aircraft and related 

equipment  Buildings  
 

Land  
Machinery and office 

equipment  Construction in progress  

Vehicles and Other fixed 
assets  Total 

              
Balance at 1 January 2022  107,261  

 
 59,565    9,928    27,903  

 
 13,814  

 
 17,914  

 
 236,385  

              
 Transfers  -  

 
 2,436    -    4,774  

 
 812  

 
 (8,022)   -  

 Additions   113,853    57    -    1,298    11,124    5,836    132,168  

 Transfer from construction in progress  -    4,944    -    -    (4,944)   -    -  

 Transfer from investment property  -    (2,757)   -    (147)   (179)   (1,539)   (4,622) 

              
Balance at 31 December 2022  221,114  

 
 64,245    9,928    33,828  

 
 20,627  

 
 14,189  

 
 363,931  

              
 Transfers  -  

 
 -    -    -  

 
 -  

 
 -  

 
 -  

 Additions   37,875    35    -    3,292    5,505    4,123    50,830  

 Transfer from construction in progress  -    10,542    -    -    (10,542)   -    -  

 Disposal and write offs   -    (18,005)   (60)    (804)   (535)   (1,510)   (20,914) 

              
Balance at 31 December 2023  258,989  

 
 56,817    9,868    36,316  

 
 15,055  

 
 16,802  

 
 393,847  

              
Accumulated depreciation                            
Balance at 1 January 2022  (24,740)  

 
 (4,450)    -    (6,486)  

 
 -  

 
 (6,064)  

 
 (41,740)  

              
 Transfers  -  

 
 (1,240)    -    1,202 

 
 -  

 
38 

 
 -  

 Depreciation charge 1  (12,512)    (3,635)    -    (3,196)    -        (3,224)   (22,567)  

 Disposal and write offs   -    3   -   87   -    279   369 
              
Balance at 31 December 2022  (37,252)  

 
 (9,322)    -    (8,393)  

 
 -  

 
(8,971)  

 
 (63,938)  

              
 Depreciation charge  (10,256)  (2,537)  -  (3,258)  -  (2,509)  (18,560) 

 Disposal and write offs  -  3,156  -  277  -  162  3,595 
              

Balance at 31 December 2023 (47,508)  (8,703)  -  (11,374)  -  (11,318)  (78,903) 
              
Carrying amount              
As at 31 December, 2022  183,862  

 
 54,923    9,928    25,435  

 
 20,627  

 
 5,218  

 
 299,993  

              
As at 31 December 2023 211,481  48,114  9,868  24,942  15,055  5,484  314,944 

              

 

 

1 2022 depreciation includes AZN 209 thousand related to investment property disposed during 2023. 
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As per shareholder decision in February 2023, AZN 5,628 thousand is withdrawn from charter 
capital as a form of asset (2022: nil thousand). 
 
As at 31 December 2023, net book value of property and equipment of AZN 46,397 thousand were 
pledged as a collateral on loans and borrowings received from banks (2022: AZN 40,344 thousand). 
Aircraft with net book value of AZN 107,575 thousand (2022: AZN 109,693 thousand) is pledged under 
outstanding amount payable for the asset (Note 23) until the full repayment of the purchase price. 

 
 
15. INVENTORIES 

 

 31 December  
2023 

 31 December 
2022 

     
Stores, spare parts and consumables  12,861    12,791  
Other materials  2,222    2,610  

  
 

  
Less: allowance for slow-moving inventory  (1,831)   (2,344) 

  
 

  
Total inventories  13,252   13,057 

 
 
16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

 

 31 December  
2023 

 
31 December  

2022 
    
Trade Receivables  45,964    56,963  
Tax receivables  6,387    2,900  
  

  
Less: Expected Credit Losses   (5,640) 

 
(14,234) 

  
  

 46,711  
 

45,629 

 
 
The average credit period on provision of services is 50 days. No interest is charged on outstanding 
trade receivables. 
 
The following table details the risk profile of trade receivables based on the Group’s provision 
matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not show significantly different loss 
patterns for different customer segments, the provision for loss allowance based on past due status 
is not further distinguished between the Group’s different customer segments. 

 
 Trade receivables – days past due 

As at 31 December 2023 Not past due  <30  31-60  61-90  91-120  >120  Total 

 AZN  AZN  AZN  AZN  AZN  AZN  AZN 
               
Expected credit loss rate 6.09%  7.37%  10.43%  11.53%  66.02%  63.33%  12.37% 
Estimated total gross 

carrying amount at default  26,746    11,527    1,803    1,483    1,345    3,060    45,964  
Lifetime ECL  (1,606)   (849)   (188)   (171)   (888)   (1,938)   (5,640) 

                
              40,324 
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  Trade receivables – days past due 

As at 31 December 2022 Not past due  <30  31-60  61-90  91-120  >120  Total 

  AZN  AZN  AZN  AZN  AZN  AZN  AZN 
               
Expected credit loss rate 4.97%  12.67%  21.24%  33.55%  51.24%  56.21%  24.99% 
Estimated total gross 

carrying amount at default 26,698  5,611  3,527  1,568  1,448  18,111  56,963 
Lifetime ECL (1,326)  (711)  (749)  (526)  (742)  (10,180)  (14,234) 

               
              42,729 

 
 
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognized for trade 
receivables in accordance with the simplified approach set out in IFRS 9. 
 

 Collectively assessed 

Balance as at 1 January 2022 (17,623) 
  
Net remeasurement of loss allowance 4,690 
Amounts recovered 1,465 
Change in loss allowance due to new trade receivables originated net of those 

derecognised due to settlement (2,766) 

   
Balance as at 31 December 2022 (14,234) 
   
Net remeasurement of loss allowance (563) 
Amounts recovered 12,850 
Change in loss allowance due to new trade receivables originated net of those 

derecognised due to settlement (3,693) 

   
Balance as at 31 December 2023 (5,640) 

 
The Group rented premises to one of its related parties and recognized rental income from 
investment property within revenue (Note 5). The related party repaid all of the invoices accrued 
until March 2023 within trade receivables for the rent of premises and acquired those premises for 
AZN 3,289 thousand (excluding VAT). As a result, overdue invoices from the related party were 
recovered during 2023. 
 
The Group’s exposure to credit and currency risks are disclosed in Note 26. 
 

 
17. BANK DEPOSITS 

 

 31 December  
2023 

 31 December  
2022 

    
Current portion of bank deposits 7,900  6,500 
Non-current portion of bank deposits -  1,400 
    
Total 7,900  7,900 

 
As at 31 December 2023, AZN 7,900 thousand (2022: AZN 7,900 thousand) bank deposits are held 
at amortised cost and placed in one bank.  
 
The Group’s exposure to credit and currency risks are disclosed in Note 26. 
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18. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

 31 December  
2023 

 31 December  
2022 

     
Current accounts with local banks  68,215  

 
 54,990  

VAT Deposits  941    170  
Cash in transit  88    181  
Cash on hand  20    25  

     
Total cash and bank balances 69,264 

 
55,366   

 
 
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency, credit risk as well as a sensitivity analysis for financial 
assets and liabilities are disclosed in Note 26. 
 
 

19. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES 
 
The Group leases helicopter to one of its related parties. During 2023, the lease was fully repaid by 
the lessee before the maturity of the lease 
 

 

31 December  
2023 

 
31 December  

2022 

     
Finance lease receivables -    13,190  
Accrued interest on finance lease receivables -    820  

     
Total finance lease receivables -    14,010  

     
Finance lease receivables, non-current portion -   7,088  
Finance lease receivables, current portion -    6,922  

     
Total finance lease receivables -    14,010  

 
 
Reconciliation of future lease payments and their present values at the end of reporting period: 
 
As at 31 December 2022 Up to 1 year  1 to 5 years  Total 

       
Lease payments  7,660    7,658    15,318  
Unearned finance income  (738)   (570)   (1,308) 

       
Present value of lease payments receivable 6,922  7,088  14,010 

 
 

20. ADVANCES GIVEN 
 
As at 31 December 2023 long-term advances given of AZN 10,594 thousand (2022: AZN 7,395 
thousand) primarily include advances paid to two vendors as part of PBH engine maintenance 
agreements with original equipment manufacturers of aircraft engines and several construction 
vendors of AZN 8,968 thousand (2022: AZN 5,852 thousand) and AZN 1,625 thousand (2022: AZN 
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1,543 thousands), respectively. The maintenance and repair costs covered by PBH agreement 
expensed off during the year amounted to AZN 2,190 thousand (2022: AZN 1,303 thousand).  
No long-term advances gives were capitalized for overhaul during the period (2022: AZN 3,060 
thousand). 
 
As at 31 December 2023 short-term advances given of AZN 10,376 thousand (2022: AZN 7,434 
thousand) primarily include prepayment for aircraft maintenance of AZN 2,352 thousand (2022: 
AZN 2,873 thousand), fuel prepayments of AZN 3,939 thousand (2022: 378 thousand), and other 
individually immaterial advances. 
 

 
21. LOANS AND BORROWINGS 

 
 Interest  31 December 2023  31 December 2022 
 Rate  Rate, %  Amount  Rate, %  Amount 

           
AZN-denominated          
          
Premium Bank Fixed  7%  54,970  7%  54,970 
Premium Bank Fixed  6%  46,053  6%  53,029 

          
Total AZN denominated     101,023    107,999 

           
USD-denominated          
            
Premium Bank Fixed  5%  48,520  5%  25,068 
Bonds to individuals Fixed  3.5%  8,365  3.5%  8,500 

           
Total USD denominated     56,884    33,568 

          
EUR-denominated          
          
Pasha Bank Fixed  4%  16,977  4%  23,522 

          
Total EUR denominated     16,977    23,522 

           
Accrued interest     230    211 

           
Total loans and borrowings     175,115    165,300 

           
Long-term portion of loans 

and borrowings     162,907    162,733 

           
Short-term portion of loans and 

borrowings     12,208    2,567 
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The maturity profile of loans and borrowings is as follows: 
 
 31 December  

2023 
 31 December  

2022 

    
Due in one year 12,208  2,567 

    
Total current portion of loans and borrowings 12,208  2,567 

    
Due over five years 162,907  162,733 

    
Total long-term portion of loans and borrowings 162,907  162,733 

    
Total loans and borrowings 175,115  165,300 

 
 
The collateral profile of loans and borrowings is as follows: 
 

 

31 December  
2023  

31 December  
2022 

    
Secured by property and investment property 100,719   90,791 
Unsecured loans and borrowings  74,396   74,509 
    
Total loans and borrowings 175,115  165,300 

 
 
Loans and borrowing agreements do not contain any financial covenant terms. 
 
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities 
 
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including 
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash 
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s statement of cash flows as cash 
flows from financing activities. 
 

 
As at 31 December 2023 

  Cash changes       

 1-Jan-23  Financing cash 
flows (i) 

 Other 
changes (ii) 

 FOREX  31-Dec-23 

Loans and borrowings 165,300  9,079  9  727   175,115 
          

Total liabilities from financing activities 165,300  9,079  9  727   175,115 

 
 
As at 31 December 2022 

  Cash changes       

 1-Jan-22  Financing cash 
flows (i) 

 Other 
changes (ii) 

 FOREX  31-Dec-22 

Loans and borrowings 174,204  (6,740)  (148)  (2,016)   165,300 
          

Total liabilities from financing activities 174,204  (6,740)  (148)  (2,016)   165,300 

 
 

 

(i) The cash flows from loans and borrowings make up the net amount of proceeds from loans and borrowings and 
repayments of loans and borrowings in the cash flow statement. 

(ii) Other changes include interest accruals and payments.  
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22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 

 31 December  
2023 

 31 December  
2022 

    
Trade payables  35,442  

 
 23,824  

Tax payables  1,345    4,544  
Staff related payables  2,622    2,282  
Other payables  1,682    2,041  
    
Total 41,091  32,691 

 
 
The Group’s exposure to currency and liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is disclosed 
in Note 26. 

 
 
23. LONG-TERM PAYABLES 

 
During 2022, the Group purchased aircraft for USD 65,000 thousand, payable in full not later than 
five years from delivery date as per the purchase agreement. The agreement does not contain 
payment schedule and allows repayment any time during the five-year period, bearing 1.5% 
interest on the outstanding amount. Management has concluded that it is not possible to 
determine fair value of the payable, as the agreement does not contain payment schedule. 
 
As at 31 December 2023 management does not have an intention to make repayment during the 
next 12 months after the reporting date and presented as the long-term payable. The Group 
provides the vendor with aviation services and plans to offset outstanding amount payable for the 
aircraft with the receivable to be accumulated for provided services in the future. 
 
After the reporting period the Group amended the terms of initial contract (Note 29). 
 
 

24. ADVANCES RECEIVED 
 
Advances received balance of AZN 27,642 thousand as at 31 December 2023 (2022: AZN 28,459 
thousand) primarily represent payments received from customers for the provision of business 
aviation and ground handling services. 
 
 

25. CHARTER CAPITAL 
 

As per shareholder decision in February 2023, AZN 5,628 thousand is withdrawn from charter 
capital as a form of asset. (Note 14). In accordance with the charter, the Group’s declared charter 
constitutes AZN 181,044 thousand (2022: AZN 186,672 thousand) composed of 181,043,680 
participation interests (2022: 186,671,975 participation interests) with par value of AZN 1 (2022: 
AZN 1) each.  
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26. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
Exposure to credit, interest rate and currency risk arises in the normal course of the Group’s 
business. The Group does not hedge its exposure to such risks. 
 
Capital management 
 
The Group manages its capital to ensure the Group will be able to continue as a going concern. 
 
The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt and shareholder deficit of the Group 
(comprising share capital and accumulated deficit).  
 
The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 
 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting 
in financial loss to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy 
counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral, where appropriate, as a means of mitigating 
the risk of financial loss from defaults.  
 
Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers spread across diverse industries and 
geographical areas.  
 

 31 December 2023 
 

31 December 2022 

        
Company A  15,267  33%  4,670  8% 
Company B  5,626  12%  8,970  16% 
Company C  4,525  10%  4,095  7% 
Company D  30  0%  22,023  39% 
Others 20,516  45%  17,205  30% 

        
Total trade receivables 1  45,964  100%  56,963  100% 

 
1 Trade receivables are presented at gross amounts. 

 
Apart from above, the Group does not have significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty 
or any group of counterparties having similar characteristics. The Group defines counterparties as 
having similar characteristics if they are related entities. The concentration of credit risk is limited due 
to the fact that the customer base is large and unrelated. In the opinion of management, the Group 
has no significant credit risk with abovementioned agents, as the Group maintains long-term and 
stable business relationships with healthy repayment history. 
 
From cash and cash equivalents balances at the end of 2023, AZN 59,842 thousand (31 December 
2022: AZN 43,790 thousand) are placed in Premium Bank OJSC.  
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Exposure to credit risk 
 
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure, except for cash 
and cash equivalents where exposure is reduced by the amount of petty cash. The maximum 
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was: 
 

Carrying amount 
31 December  

2023 
 31 December 

2022 

     
Cash and cash equivalents 69,156   55,160 
Trade receivables 40,324   42,729 
Bank deposits 7,900   7,900 
Finance lease receivables -   14,010 
Insurance contract asset 13   34 
Reinsurers contract asset 2,317   1,803 

     
Total 119,710  121,636 

 
 

Foreign currency risk 
 
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales and purchases and loans and borrowings that 
are denominated in currencies other than AZN. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily 
USD and EUR.  
 
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis 
 
The Group is mainly exposed to the risk of change of exchange rates of AZN against USD and EUR.  
 

The book values of the Group’s monetary assets and liabilities as at the reporting date have been 
provided below: 
 
31 December 2023 AZN  USD  EUR  Other  Total 
       

  
 

Cash and cash equivalents 15,608  15,677  37,107  764  69,156 
Trade receivables 32,123  3,576  3,296  1,329  40,324 
Bank deposits 3,650  4,250  -  -  7,900 

Insurance contract asset -  13  -  -  13 

Reinsurers contract asset -  2,317  -  -  2,317 

          

Total financial assets 51,381  25,833  40,403  2,093  119,710 

                    
Loans and borrowings 101,108  57,005  17,002  -  175,115 
Long-term payables -  100,470  -  -  100,470 
Trade and other payables 1 37,467  539  1,696  44  39,746 

Insurance contract liability  -  5,031  -  -  5,031 

Reinsurers contract liability  -  135  -  -  135 
Provisions 19  -  140  -  159 

          

Total financial liability 138,594  163,180  18,838  44  320,656 

          

Open position   (137,347)  21,565  2,049  (113,733) 
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31 December 2022 AZN  USD  EUR  Other  Total 
       

  
 

Cash and cash equivalents  8,037    15,206    31,745    172    55,160  
Trade receivables  28,881    1,399    12,427    22    42,729  
Finance lease receivables  14,010    -      -      -      14,010  
Bank deposits  3,650    4,250    -      -      7,900  

Insurance contract asset  34   -   -    -      34 

Reinsurers contract asset  -     1,803    -      -      1,803  

          Total financial assets          54,612            22,658           44,172                  194         121,636  

                    
Loans and borrowings        108,147            33,631            23,522                     -            165,300  
Long-term payables -  104,894  -  -  104,894 
Trade and other payables 1          25,632                 519              1,966                     30              28,147  

Insurance contract liability           -             4,880                     -                     -                4,880 

Reinsurers contract liability            -                193                    -                       -                193  
Provisions                  13                     -                   378                     -                   391  

          

Total financial liability 133,792             144,117             25,866                     30           303,805  

          

Open position           (121,459)           18,306                  164   
             

(102,989) 

 
1 Excludes tax payables. 
 
Sensitivity analysis 
 
A weakening of the AZN, as indicated below, against the above indicated currencies at the end of 
the reporting period would have (decreased)/increased profit or loss by the amounts shown below. 
This analysis is based on foreign currency exchange rate variances that the Group considered to be 
reasonably possible at the end of the reporting period. The analysis assumes that all other 
variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. 
 

31 December 2023 USD  Euro  Other  
Total 

        

20% weakening of AZN 
 (27,469) 

 
4,313  

 
 409  

 
 (22,747) 

 
 

31 December 2022 USD  Euro  Other  
Total 

        

20% weakening of AZN 
 (24,292) 

 
 3,661  

 
 33  

 
 (20,598) 

 
 
A strengthening of the AZN against the above currencies would have had the equal but opposite 
effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables 
remain constant. 
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Master netting 
 
The Group may enter into sales and purchase agreements with the same counterparty in the 
normal course of business. The following table sets out the carrying amounts of recognised financial 
instruments that are subject to the above agreements. 
 

31 December 2023 Trade receivables  Trade payables 1 

 Long-term  
payables 

      
Gross amounts 49,731  40,691  111,150 
Amounts offset in accordance with IAS 32 offsetting 

criteria 9,407  3,567 
 

5,840 
Net amounts presented in the statement of financial 

position 40,324  37,124 
 

100,470 
Amounts related to recognised financial instruments 

that do not meet some or all of the offsetting criteria 706   706  
 

- 

      
Net amounts 41,030  37,830  100,470 

 
 

31 December 2022 Trade receivables  Trade payables  
 Long-term  

payables 

      
Gross amounts 62,771   39,651   111,150 
Amounts offset in accordance with IAS 32 offsetting 

criteria (20,042)   (13,786)  
 

(6,256) 
Net amounts presented in the statement of financial 

position 42,729     25,865 
 

104,894 
Amounts related to recognised financial instruments 

that do not meet some or all of the offsetting criteria 706   706  
 

- 

      
Net amounts 43,435  26,571  104,894 

 
1 Excludes tax and staff related payables. 

 
Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to settle all liabilities as they are due. 
The Group’s liquidity position is carefully monitored and managed.  
 
The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative 
financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of 
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.  

 
31 December 2023 Within a year  1 to 5 years  Over 5 years  Total 
        
Loans and borrowings 28,972   82,233    143,902   255,107 
Long-term payables -  -  100,470  100,470 
Trade and other payables (excluding tax 

payables) 39,746   -    -   39,746 
Insurance contract liability 5,031   -    -   5,031 
Reinsurers contract liability 135   -    -   135 
Provisions 159   -    -   159 
 

       
Total financial liabilities 74,043  82,233  244,372  400,648 
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31 December 2022 Within a year  1 to 5 years  Over 5 years  Total 
        
Loans and borrowings 18,950   50,936    167,758   237,644 
Long-term payables -  -  104,894  104,894 
Trade and other payables (excluding tax 

payables) 27,824  -  -  27,824 
Insurance contract liability 4,880   -    -   4,880 
Reinsurers contract liability  193   -    -   193 
Provisions 391 

 
 -  

 
 -  

 
391 

        
Total financial liabilities 52,561 

 
50,936 

 
272,652 

 
376,149 

 
 
27. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

 
Commitments related to CSR activities 
 
Authorised future commitments in respect of CSR activities by the Group for which contracts had 
been signed as at 31 December 2023 amounted to AZN 58,751 thousand (2022: AZN 41,014  
thousand). 
 
Taxation contingencies 
 
The taxation system in the Republic of Azerbaijan continues to evolve and is characterized by 
frequent changes in legislation, official pronouncements and court decisions, which are sometimes 
contradictory and subject to varying interpretation by different tax authorities. Taxes are subject to 
review and investigation by a number of authorities who have the authority to impose severe fines, 
penalties and interest charges. A tax year remains open for review by the tax authorities during three 
subsequent calendar years; however, under certain circumstances a tax year may remain open 
longer. Recent events within the Azerbaijan Republic suggest that the tax authorities are taking a 
more assertive position in their interpretation and enforcement of tax legislation. 
 
These circumstances may create tax risks in Azerbaijan that are substantially more significant than 
in other countries. Management believes that it has provided adequately for tax liabilities based on 
its interpretations of applicable Azerbaijan tax legislation, official pronouncements and court 
decisions. However, the interpretations of the relevant authorities could differ and the effect on 
the consolidated financial statements, if the authorities were successful in enforcing their 
interpretations, could be significant. 
 
Operating environment 
 
Emerging markets such as Azerbaijan are subject to different risks than more developed markets, 
including economic, political and social, and legal and legislative risks. Laws and regulations affecting 
businesses in Azerbaijan continue to change rapidly, tax and regulatory frameworks are subject to 
varying interpretations. The future stability of the Azerbaijan economy is heavily influenced by 
reforms and developments and the effectiveness of economic, financial and monetary measures 
undertaken by the government. 
 
Because Azerbaijan produces and exports large volumes of oil and gas, its economy is particularly 
sensitive to the price of oil and gas on the world market. 
 
There has been no deterioration in customers’ payment performances. 
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Due to the ongoing conflict between the Russian Federation and Ukraine, the US, UK, EU and other 
countries announced numerous sanctions on certain Russian officials, businessmen and companies, 
which are targeted to have a negative impact on the Russian economy. Because of existing 
interdependencies between Russian and other economies in the region, these developments may 
result in reduced access of the regional businesses to international capital and export markets, 
weakening of the Russian Ruble and other regional currencies, decline in local capitals markets and 
other negative economic consequences. 
 
The Group’s management is monitoring developments in the current environment and taking 
necessary measures to support the sustainability and development of the Group’s business in 
the foreseeable future. The impact of these and further developments on future operations and 
financial position of the Group at this stage is difficult to determine. 

 
 
28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 
Related parties comprise the shareholders of the Group and all other companies in which those 
shareholders, either individually or together, have a controlling interest. 
 
During the year, Group entered into the following trading transactions with related parties: 
 

 Year ended 31 December 2023  Year ended 31 December 2022 

 

Related party 
transactions  Total per category  

Related party 
transactions  Total per category 

        
Revenue    289,571   

 
  283,016  

- per related party 582  
 

 18,129     
   

 
   

 

Insurance revenue    11,596      12,595  

- per related party 2,034  
 

 3,286  
 

 
  

 
   

 

Handling, landing, navigation, and 
other flight costs 

  
 10,222      8,438  

- per related party 1,026    293   
        
Employee costs 

 
  68,340      54,633  

- per related party  5,615  
 

 3,163  
 

 
 

 
 

   
 

Finance costs 
 

  11,035   
 

  9,388  

- per related party -   
 

  6,277   
 

 
The following balances were outstanding at the end of the reporting period: 
 

 31 December 2023  31 December 2022 

 

Related party 
balances  Total per category  

Related party 
balances  Total per category 

        
Loans and borrowings 

 
 175,115  

 
  165,300  

- common key management  -  
 

  133,067   
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

   
Cash and cash equivalents 

 
 69,264  

 
  55,366  

- common key management  -  
 

  43,790   
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Trade and other receivables   46,711        45,629  
- entities under common control  110      11,541    
        
Finance lease receivable    -     14,010  
- entities under common control  -      14,010    
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Premium Bank OJSC was considered as a related party due to certain factors and circumstances 
around management of the bank. Since 2023, these factors and circumstances have changed, so 
that bank is no longer considered as a related party to the Group as of 31 December 2023. 
 
 

29. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE 
 
Charter capital 
 
In February 2024, the Group declared dividends of AZN 38,998 thousand to its sole shareholder and 
paid the dividends of AZN 12,500 thousand in the same period. 
 
In June 2024, the Group sold 90,535 thousand shares with a total nominal amount of AZN 90,535 
thousand, representing 50% of its charter capital to Azbizneskom LLC. 

 
The Group sold one of its subsidiaries, Hahn Cargo Services GmbH to third party company for AZN 
761 thousand (EUR 413 thousand) on 28 February 2024. 
 
Loans and borrowings 

 
In January 2024, the Group fully repaid a loan of AZN 5,210 thousand borrowed from Premium 
Bank. The Group also renegotiated the terms of eight loan contracts (with total amount of AZN 
89,381 thousand as at 31 December 2023) with the same bank, resulting in an extension of the 
maturity periods with a revised payment schedule effective from March 2024. In accordance with 
the revised payment schedules, monthly repayments include both interest and a partial repayment 
of the principal (under the original agreements, the principal amounts were to be fully repaid at the 
end of the loan terms). 
 
Property and equipment 
 
In May 2024, the Group returned an aircraft purchased on long-term credit (Note 23) from third 
party company. Parties agreed to amend the terms of original purchase agreement changing its 
core principle. As per revised agreement, the transaction should be treated as a rent agreement 
rather than a purchase agreement. Total value of the rent from August 2022 (inception date) until 
May 2024 (termination date) was set as AZN 12,342 thousand (USD 7,260 thousand). 


